STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Sumter County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

GENE D. EVANS, JR.,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001590

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 30 2023**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance where counsel challenged the blood draw and results during a pre-trial suppression motion but failed to secure a ruling on both grounds argued in support of suppression and failed to object to the admission of the blood results during trial which precluded appellate review of the motion?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 12, 2017, Shonda Brown and her boyfriend Andrew Moye were traveling down Saint Paul Church Road in Sumter County, South Carolina, when they encountered a RV approaching in their lane. Brown, who was driving, swerved to the right so that the RV would not strike her vehicle head on. The driver of the RV overcorrected back into its lane, ran off the road and struck a tree. App. 156, l. 16-App. 159, l. 17. Moye ran to the RV, opened the driver side door, and pulled a man, later identified as Petitioner, out from the under the steering wheel. App. 170, l. 3-App. 171, l. 15; App. 174, ll. 2-16. Once Moye had removed Petitioner from the vehicle, he saw another individual in the RV. He attempted to remove the other person, later identified as Robert Skidmore, from the RV but could not get him out due to the amount of stuff that was on top of Skidmore. App. 97, ll. 20-23-App. 172, ll. 5-23. The RV, which had been smoking, eventually caught fire which prevented further attempts to rescue Skidmore from the vehicle. App. 172, l. 23-App. 173, l. 15. Petitioner was airlifted from the scene to Richland Memorial Hospital. App. 132, ll. 8-16.

Unfortunately, Skidmore died during the collision. App. 37, ll. 16-18. An autopsy of Skidmore performed the day after the accident revealed that he suffered a broken neck, a fractured skull, and a brain bleed during the wreck. His official cause of death was blunt force injury to the head due to the motor vehicle collision. There was no evidence discovered during the autopsy to indicate that Skidmore was alive at the time the RV caught fire. App. 97, ll. 20-23; App. 101, l. 25-App. 104, l. 25. The toxicology results of the autopsy showed that Skidmore was under the influence of methamphetamine at the time of his death. App. 239, ll. 6-18.

Trooper Kevin Boland of the South Carolina Highway Patrol was the initial responding officer who documented the scene and took witness statements before going to Richland

Memorial Hospital to speak with Petitioner. App. 115, l. 12-App. 119, 24; App. 131, l. 17-App. 132, l. 20. According to Trooper Boland, Petitioner would mumble and nod his head in response to questions and while the “mumbles were hard to understand,” the head nods “were clear on.” When he asked if Petitioner was Gene Evans, Petitioner nodded yes. When he asked Petitioner if he knew what had happened, Petitioner nodded no. Trooper Boland advised Petitioner that he was in a serious car wreck and requested a voluntary blood sample as part of the investigation to which he alleged Petitioner nodded yes. App. 133, l. 1-App. 134, l. 23. A nurse that was tending to Petitioner drew his blood and immediately turned in over to Trooper Boland. App. 135, ll. 14-25. The toxicology results of the blood draw revealed that Petitioner had .78 milligrams of methamphetamine and .11 milligrams of amphetamine per liter of blood in his system. App. 233, ll. 6-17.

Petitioner was arrested on April 9, 2017. App. 138, ll. 17-24. The Sumter County grand jury indicted Petitioner for one count of felony driving under the influence, death resulting, during its October 2017 term. App. 496-497. The State, represented by John Meadors, called the case to trial on February 20, 2018, before the Honorable Howard P. King and a jury. Petitioner was represented by appointed counsel Timothy Griffith. App. 1.

Prior to the start of trial, Counsel Griffith made a motion *in limine* to suppress the blood draw and any results thereof. He argued that the samples and results should be suppressed because the State had failed to comply with the mandates of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950. App. 28, l. 13-App. 29, l. 5. In response the State argued that pursuant to State v. Cribb<sup>1</sup> section 56-5-2950 was inapplicable to pre-arrest DUI investigations and Petitioner was not under arrest at the time of the blood draw. The State further argued that 56-5-2950 did not apply to felony DUI

---

<sup>1</sup> 310 S.C. 518, 426 S.E.2d 306 (1992)

cases, that S.C. Code Ann. § 59-5-2946 applied, and that Petitioner had consented to the blood draw. App. 29, l. 24-App. 33, l. 17. Counsel Griffith replied that 56-5-2950 was controlling and that Petitioner denied giving his consent for the blood draw. App. 33, l. 25-App. 35, l. 13.

The State called Trooper Boland to testify during the pre-trial hearing regarding his communications with Petitioner in obtaining the blood draw. Trooper Boland testified that Petitioner communicated with him primarily through head nods. He stated Petitioner would mumble but he was “very very hard to understand.” He testified Petitioner tracked him with his eyes and would either nod yes or no to the questions he asked. App. 38, l. 13-App. 39, l. 12. Trooper Boland testified he was requested a voluntary blood sample from Petitioner and that Petitioner consented by nodding his head yes. He further testified that he never saw Petitioner shake his head no or draw his arm away from the nurse in an attempt to refuse the blood draw. App. 40, l. 7-App. 41, l. 10.

On cross-examination, Trooper Boland stated the blood draw occurred approximately three hours after the accident. He admitted that Petitioner was strapped to a back board and was in a C-collar when he questioned him. He stated that he did not give Petitioner any implied consent warnings because Petitioner was not under arrest. He was unaware that Petitioner had been given fentanyl citrate while being transported to the hospital or that Petitioner<sup>2</sup> had a concussion. App. 45, l. 1-App. 48, l. 17; App. 50, ll. 1-18; App. 51, l. 24-App. 52, l. 3. He maintained that Petitioner volunteered the blood sample and that he would not have taken it against his will but would have gotten a search warrant. App. 50, l. 24-App. 51, l. 9.

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner also broke his clavicle, sternum, knee, and several ribs during the accident. He also had large laceration to his head as well as damage to his skull underneath his eye. App. 270, l. 21-App. 271, l. 2; App. 273, ll. 13-16.

Petitioner did not testify during the suppression hearing because he could not remember anything that happened in the days following the accident. App. 52, l. 19-App. 53, l. 7. The trial court ruled that under the holding in Cribb the mandates of section 56-5-2950 did not apply to pre-arrest investigation into DUIs and therefore the State was not required to comply with the statutory provisions until an arrest had been made. The trial judge concluded that Petitioner was not under arrest at the time of the blood draw and was therefore not entitled to the protections of the implied consent law. He ruled the blood draw and results admissible. At no point did the trial judge rule on whether Petitioner had voluntarily consented to the blood draw. App. 66, l. 1-App. 67, l. 11.

During trial, two witnesses testified about the presence of methamphetamine in Petitioner's system. Trooper Boland testified, without objection, that the "results showed that Mr. Evans did test positive for high level of methamphetamine on the day of the collision." App. 138, ll. 14-19. Later in the trial Kevin Selinsky, a forensic toxicologist with SLED, testified without objection that Petitioner had methamphetamine and amphetamine, a metabolite of methamphetamine, in his system on the day of the accident. App. 233, l. 6-App. 234, l. 4. He further opined that Petitioner was under the influence of methamphetamine at the time of the blood draw. App. 236, l. 19-App. 237, l. 4. He also stated that the level of methamphetamine in Petitioner's system was "in the high range." App. 245, ll. 9-15.

Petitioner testified in his own defense. He maintained that Skidmore had been driving the RV at the time of the collision. Petitioner testified that while driving the RV Skidmore "jumped up" and began pulling on the steering wheel. Petitioner reacted by lunging for the steering wheel as the RV went off the road. Petitioner had no memory of the accident after lunging for the steering wheel and did not remember the first few days that he was in the

hospital. App. 269, l. 1-App. 274, l. 17. Petitioner maintained that he had could not have given Trooper Boland consent to draw his blood. App. 277, l. 21-App. 278, l. 12.

Petitioner was found guilty as indicted after a three-day trial. App. 370, ll. 8-20. Judge King sentenced Petitioner to twelve years imprisonment with credit for time served. App. 385, ll. 12-17; App. 498. Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence. The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal pursuant to Anders v. California<sup>3</sup> in an unpublished opinion. State v. Evans, Op. No. 2020-UP-119 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 29, 2020). Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on June 24, 2020, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for, *inter alia*, failing to adequately challenge the blood draw and for failing to argue the blood draw was a violation of the Fourth Amendment. App. 387-412. The State filed a return and partial motion to dismiss dated March 10, 2021. App. 413-420.

An evidentiary hearing was convened on June 28, 2022, before the Honorable Clifton Newman. The State was represented by Megan Jameson. Petitioner was represented by James Falk. App. 421. No amendments to Petitioner's *pro se* PCR application were filed. App. 426, ll. 9-12.

Petitioner testified that Counsel Griffith came to speak with him twice at the jail but never provided him with discovery and stated they did not have many discussions during trial. App. 438, ll. 3-20; App. 440, ll. 17-24. He testified that he remembered the suppression motion but did not remember any specifics of the hearing. App. 449, ll. 7-19. He reaffirmed that he had no recollection of speaking with Trooper Boland, could not have given consent for the blood draw, and had no memory from the accident through the first three days in the hospital. App. 453, ll. 1-17.

---

<sup>3</sup> 386 U.S. 738 (1967)

Counsel Griffith testified that he filed a motion to suppress the blood draw and results based on the State's failure to comply with the statute and that Petitioner was under the influence of a lot of medication at the time the blood draw was taken. He stated he believed that he argued that the blood draw could not have been voluntary because Petitioner was not in any condition to give consent. App. 456, l. 17-App. 455, l. 9. Counsel Griffith testified he did not recall if he renewed his objection to the admission of the blood results when the SLED agent testified but stated that based on the transcript it appeared that he had not objected. The State objected to this line of questioning and Counsel Falk responded that the failure to object to the admission of the blood during trial was part of the failure of Counsel Griffith to challenge the blood draw and results. The PCR court overruled the objection. App. 456, l. 2-App. 457, l. 5. On cross-examination, Counsel Griffith testified that he felt he was quite prepared for trial. App. 458, ll. 12-13. He confirmed he filed a suppression motion and argued it pre-trial based on the failure to comply with the statute and the inability of Petitioner to consent due to his condition after the accident. App. 460, l. 20-App. 462, l. 19. The State did not question Counsel Griffith regarding his failure to object to the admission of the blood toxicology results.

The State argued that the record was "abundantly clear" that Counsel Griffith had challenged the blood draw and results on multiple grounds. It claimed that the finding of consent was unchallenged because Petitioner did not testify at the suppression hearing and thus there was no valid Fourth Amendment argument that Counsel Griffith could have made. App. 472, l.6-App. 473, l. 1. Counsel Falk argued that without having preserved the objection to the blood draw and results that Counsel Griffith did not adequately challenge the blood draw. When the PCR court questioned whether characterizing the motion as *in limine* instead of a motion to suppress made any difference Counsel Falk responded, "as far as record preservation is

concerned, absolutely-absolutely no difference.” App. 473, l. 21-App. 474, l. 4. The State responded that there was case law waiving preservation requirements when it related to Fourth Amendment issues and that there was no brief or evidence in the record that the issue was not preserved for appellate review. App. 474, ll. 5-14. Counsel Falk responded that there was no renewing objection when the evidence was entered at trial and that the testimony raised a question as to whether Petitioner could have consented to the blood draw based on his inability to remember anything from that time period. He argued the voluntariness of the blood draw was an issue that needed to be preserved for appellate review. App. 474, l. 16-App. 475, l. 1.

The PCR court ruled that Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proof. The court found that Counsel Griffith had done an adequate job preparing and raising the issues and representing Petitioner. The PCR court requested the State prepare an order of dismissal. App. 475, ll. 6-21. The order of dismissal was filed on October 24, 2022. App. 477-495. Regarding Counsel Griffith’s failure to challenge the blood draw and results, the PCR court ruled the claim was “directly refuted by the record, which conclusively establishes that trial counsel moved to suppress this evidence on several grounds...” and that the “motion was not denied based on any failure of counsel regarding argument or presentation, but rather, was based on the uncontradicted evidence presented establishing that Applicant unequivocally and unambiguously gave knowing, intelligent, and voluntary consent to give a blood sample.” The PCR court found that Petitioner did not establish prejudice because he failed to show “that a motion to suppress would have been granted had counsel made additional arguments or that the issue would have been successful on appeal.” App. 492-493.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court err in finding trial counsel provided effective assistance where counsel challenged the blood draw and results during a pre-trial suppression motion but failed to secure a ruling on both grounds argued in support of suppression and failed to object to the admission of the blood results during trial which precluded appellate review of the motion.

The record in this matter establishes that Counsel Griffith failed to adequately challenge the blood draw and results thereof. Counsel Griffith's argument for suppression was mainly based on the State's failure to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950, which was not applicable to Petitioner because he was not under arrest at the time of the blood draw. Counsel Griffith did not adequately argue that Petitioner lacked the ability to voluntarily consent to the blood draw at the time it was taken and therefore the blood draw and results were a violation of Petitioner's Fourth Amendment rights. Further, Counsel Griffith did not object when two witnesses testified to the results of the blood draw which waived the issue for appellate review. This was ineffective assistance of counsel that prejudiced Petitioner.

The appellate courts of our state have repeatedly held that in most cases making a motion *in limine* to exclude or suppress evidence does not preserve the issue for appellate review because a ruling on a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. Therefore, the party challenging the evidence **must** make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced at trial to preserve the matter for review. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840(2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 526, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438-439 (Ct. App. 2004); State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 511, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2010). Two exceptions to this rule exist. The first exception "is a practical exception to this requirement when a judge makes an evidentiary ruling on the record immediately prior to the introduction of

evidence. The rationale supporting this exception is that if no evidence is offered between the initial objection and the admission of the evidence, then there is no basis for the trial court to change its initial ruling.” State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 144, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021). The second exception to the contemporaneous objection requirement occurs “where a court rules after a hearing on a constitutional issue. Under those circumstances, the ruling is final and, unless something changes during trial that may reasonably cause the trial judge to alter the pretrial ruling, no further objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review.” Id.

Neither of these exceptions applied to Petitioner’s case. After moving pretrial to suppress the blood draw and results thereof, the State did not immediately move to admit the evidence. Although the second witness, Trooper Boland, improperly testified that methamphetamine was found in Petitioner’s system, the evidence was not admitted until much later in trial when Agent Selinsky testified. Further, Counsel Griffith did not make a constitutionally based argument against the suppression of the blood draw and results thereof but argued the State did not comply with the implied consent statute. Thus, based on the jurisprudence of our state, counsel was required to contemporaneously object to the admission of the blood draw and the results thereof to preserve the issue for appellate review and adequately challenge the issue below.

Accordingly, it is well settled that failure to preserve an issue for appellate review can be the basis of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999); McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003). Counsel can be found deficient for failing to object, failing to place an argument on the record, failing to obtain a final ruling, or failing to proffer testimony. See Thompson v. State, 423 S.C. 235, 814 S.E.2d 487 (2018); Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). In the matter, *sub judice*, trial counsel was defective because he did not adequately move to suppress the blood draw, did not

make valid arguments in favor of suppression, such as Petitioner's inability to consent, did not obtain a final ruling on the grounds raised, and failed to contemporaneously object to the admission of the evidence. The main argument made by counsel regarding the implied consent statute was inapplicable to Petitioner's case as he was not under arrest at the time of the blood draw. While counsel mentioned that Petitioner denied giving consent and questioned Trooper Boland about his ability to communicate with Petitioner while he was medicated and suffering from a concussion among other injuries, he never once argued to the trial court that Petitioner lacked the ability to consent due to his mental state. The only party to raise consent was the State, which argued that the blood draw was admissible regardless of any argument concerning statutory applicability or compliance because Petitioner consented to the blood draw. Additionally, counsel did not request that the court rule on the issue of consent when it deemed the blood draw and results admissible.