STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 29 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001590

Gene D. Evans, Jr.,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DON J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

ZACHARY W. JONES
S.C. Bar No. 104174
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 12, 2017, Shonda Brown and Andrew Moye were traveling on Saint Paul Church Road in Sumter when they were forced to the side of the road by an RV driving toward them in the wrong lane. As the RV passed them, Brown saw the driver, whom she later identified as Petitioner. The RV overcorrected, went off the road, and struck a tree. Moye left Brown and ran to the RV to render assistance. He opened the door of the RV and found the driver, whom he later identified as Petitioner, under the steering wheel. Moye unhooked him from his seatbelt and pulled him out of the wreckage. Once Moye got Petitioner out of the RV, he could see that another person, Robert Skidmore, was still in the RV.¹ Moye first tried to get to Skidmore through the passenger-side door of the RV, but it would not open. He tried again from the driver's side, but the RV had caught on fire and was smoking. Moye was unable to rescue Skidmore due to the flames. (App.pp.154–78).

During its October 2017 term, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for felony driving under the influence resulting in death (2017-GS-43-1104). Timothy L. Griffith, Esquire (“Counsel”), represented Applicant. Assistant Solicitor John P. Meadors, of the Third Circuit Solicitor's Office, prosecuted the case.

From February 20–22, 2018, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Howard P. King, circuit court judge. The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. Judge King sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for twelve years.

Petitioner timely sought direct appellate review and was represented on appeal by Appellate Defender David Alexander, who submitted a brief pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386

¹ At Petitioner's trial, Trooper Brian Trotter was qualified as an expert in the field of accident reconstruction. He testified that, based on the position of Skidmore's body after the crash, Skidmore would have been in the passenger seat of the RV at the time of the accident. (App.pp.180–218).

U.S. 738 (1967) along with a petition to be relieved as counsel. Petitioner then submitted his own *pro se* brief of appellant. Following a review of the entire record as required by *Anders*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal and granted appellate counsel's request to be relieved. *State v. Evans*, Op. No. 2020-UP-119 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 29, 2020). The remittitur was issued on June 30, 2020.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") on June 24, 2020. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was held before the Honorable Clifton Newman at the Sumter County courthouse on June 28, 2022. Judge Newman denied and dismissed the application with prejudice on October 24, 2022.

Petitioner thereafter filed a timely notice of appeal. By and through counsel Jessica M. Saxon, Esquire, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari on April 10, 2023. This Return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact receive great deference during appellate review and will be upheld if "any evidence of probative value" exists in the record to support the lower court's findings. *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. *Id.*; *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

- 1. The PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not ineffective regarding the motion to suppress because the uncontradicted evidence presented at trial established that Petitioner voluntarily consented to the blood draw.**

Following the accident, Trooper Kevin Boland visited Petitioner at the hospital as part of his investigation of the wreck. He testified that, when he entered Petitioner's room, Petitioner was awake and was able to follow Boland with his eyes. Boland testified that Petitioner could mumble, but was hard to understand, so he communicated with Boland by nodding or shaking his head in response to yes or no questions. In this way, he acknowledged that he knew who he was, that he did not remember what had happened, and that he realized he was in the hospital. Boland then requested a voluntary blood sample, and Petitioner replied with a "clear up and down" nodding of the head. A nurse then took a blood sample from Petitioner, and Petitioner did not shake his head no, withdraw his arm, or otherwise indicate that he was unwilling to give the blood sample. Boland acknowledged that Petitioner was strapped to a board and in a neck brace, but he testified that he was still able to shake and nod his head. He testified that he asked several nurses if there was any reason Petitioner was unable to talk, and they told him they did not know of any obvious reasons. He testified that he was not made aware of any medications Petitioner was taking or whether Petitioner had a concussion. Boland also testified that, if he had been unable to obtain consent, he would not have proceeded with the blood draw but would have sought a search warrant. (App.pp.36–52).

Prior to Petitioner's trial, Counsel moved to suppress evidence of the blood test on the ground the blood sample was taken in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2950. (App.pp.28–29). After hearing testimony from Trooper Boland, the trial court ruled that section 56-5-2950 did not

apply because Petitioner was not under arrest at the time of the blood draw. (App.pp.66–67). At trial, Petitioner admitted he was under the influence of methamphetamine at the time of the crash; however, he claimed the RV was being driven by Skidmore, rather than by Petitioner. (App.p.290, line 22–p.293, line 14).

Petitioner argued to the PCR court that Counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately argue that the blood draw was taken without Petitioner’s consent in violation of the Fourth Amendment, and for failing to object at the time the blood draw evidence was admitted. Petitioner alleged that Counsel’s failures prejudiced him because the issue was rendered unpreserved for appellate review. In support of this argument, Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing. Petitioner claimed that Trooper Boland was lying; however, he admitted that he could not remember anything about his interaction with Trooper Boland, and that he would have consented to a blood draw if he had been able to. (App.p.453, lines 1–17).

The PCR court found that Counsel was not ineffective on this ground because the uncontradicted evidence before the trial court established that Petitioner had voluntarily consented to the blood draw. The PCR court also noted that Trooper Boland’s testimony at trial was consistent with Petitioner’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing that he would have given consent to the blood draw if it was properly requested. The PCR court found that Counsel was not deficient because he properly made a motion to suppress and based it on the best arguments available. The court also found that Petitioner had failed to prove prejudice because he had not shown that additional argument would have resulted in the suppression of the evidence or that the issue would have been successful on appeal. (App.pp.492–93).

Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari on the ground that the PCR court erred in finding that Counsel was not ineffective as to the constitutional issue because Counsel relied solely on his

statutory argument during the motion to suppress and the trial court ruled against Petitioner only on the statutory ground, not on the constitutional one. Petitioner also claims the PCR court erred in finding the evidence of voluntariness was “uncontradicted” because there was evidence presented at trial that, when the blood draw was taken, Petitioner had a concussion, was in a highly medicated state, and had memory loss.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to “assistance by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where, as in this case, a PCR applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*: first, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding

would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 670. The applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application by a preponderance of the evidence. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

This Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari because the PCR court correctly found there was no prejudice from Counsel’s failure to move for suppression of the evidence on constitutional grounds, as such a motion would have been meritless and would not have changed the outcome of the trial. There are three reasons not to disturb the PCR court’s decision: first, as the PCR court found, the uncontradicted evidence before the trial court established that Petitioner voluntarily consented to the blood draw; second, Trooper Boland had a good-faith belief that Petitioner voluntarily consented to the blood draw; and third, the fact that Petitioner was under the influence of methamphetamine at the time of the crash was not in dispute.²

First, the Fourth Amendment requires a finding that consent be given voluntarily under the totality of the circumstances. *Palacio v. State*, 333 S.C. 506, 514, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (citing *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347 (1967); *United States v. Durades*, 929 F.2d 1160 (7th Cir. 1991); *United States v. Zapata*, 997 F.2d 751 (10th Cir. 1993)); see also *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218 (1973) (holding consent as an exception to the warrant requirement

² Although the PCR court’s order did not discuss the second and third reasons given here, the State raises them now as additional grounds for denying the petition for a writ of certiorari. See Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”); *I’On, L.L.C., v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 417–23, 526 S.E.2d 716, 721–25 (2000).

must be voluntarily given). In this case, Trooper Boland testified that when he visited Petitioner at the hospital, Petitioner was awake, was able to track Boland with his eyes as he walked around the room, was able to communicate and to answer questions by nodding or shaking his head, correctly answered questions about his identity and whether he was in a hospital, and clearly nodded his head up and down when Trooper Boland requested a voluntary blood sample. Furthermore, Petitioner did not shake his head, withdraw his arm, or otherwise indicate non-consent when the nurse began taking the blood sample. Trooper Boland testified that Petitioner was able to clearly nod and shake his head despite his neck brace. None of this evidence was contradicted at trial. Finally, Petitioner himself admitted that—although he could not remember the interaction with Trooper Boland—if he was conscious and able to consent at the time of Boland’s visit, he would have consented to the blood draw. The mere fact that Petitioner was recovering from a concussion, was medicated, and could not later recall the interaction, does not mean he was unable to give voluntary consent to Trooper Boland’s request. Therefore, the PCR court correctly found that the uncontradicted evidence before the trial court established that Petitioner’s consent to the blood draw was voluntary.

Second, the exclusionary rule is not a constitutional requirement, but a judicially-created remedy designed to deter Fourth Amendment violations. *State v. German*, 439 S.C. 449, 474, 887 S.E.2d 912, 925 (2023); *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). Therefore, the rule does not apply when law enforcement acts with an objectively reasonable good-faith belief that their conduct is lawful. *Davis v. United States*, 564 U.S. 229, 238 (2011). “Where there is no misconduct and no deterrent purpose to be served, suppression of the evidence is an unduly harsh sanction.” *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 653, 763 S.E.2d 341, 348 (2014); *see also Davis*, 564 U.S. at 237 (“Exclusion exacts a heavy toll on both the judicial system and society at large . . . For

exclusion to be appropriate, the deterrence benefits of suppression must outweigh its heavy costs.”). Here, even if there had been evidence that Petitioner was impaired by his concussion and medication in his ability to give voluntary consent to a blood draw, Trooper Boland was not aware of any such impairment. Boland testified that Petitioner appeared to be awake and alert and to give responsive answers to questions. Boland even asked multiple nurses whether they knew of any medical reasons Petitioner’s ability to communicate might be impaired, and they told him they did not. Boland denied knowing anything about Petitioner’s concussion or medications. The evidence indicates that Trooper Boland’s perception that Petitioner was able to voluntarily consent to the blood draw was objectively reasonable and in good faith. Accordingly, suppression of the evidence would not be appropriate because it would not serve any deterrent purpose.

Finally, there could be no prejudice because Petitioner never denied being under the influence of methamphetamine at the time of the accident. The theory of the defense, rather, was that Petitioner was not the one driving the RV at the time it ran off the road into the tree. At trial, Petitioner admitted on the stand that he was under the influence of methamphetamine and was not in a condition to drive, but he claimed Skidmore was driving the RV at the time of the fatal accident. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner reiterated that his defense was that he was not the driver, although he was under the influence of methamphetamine. (App.p.450, lines 9–16). Since Petitioner’s methamphetamine use was not in dispute, there is no possibility that the result of his trial would have been different, even if the motion to suppress had been granted. Therefore, he could not have been prejudiced by Counsel’s performance.

Each of these reasons, independently, suffices to defeat Petitioner’s claim of ineffective assistance of Counsel as to the suppression issue. Because there was no evidence to rebut the evidence of consent, no indication of bad faith on the part of Trooper Boland, and no dispute as to

Petitioner's use of methamphetamine at the time of the accident, there could be no prejudice from Counsel's failure to more thoroughly argue the constitutional issue during the pre-trial motion to suppress. For the same reasons, Counsel was not ineffective for allegedly failing to preserve the issue for appellate review, as Petitioner could not have prevailed in challenging the trial court's denial of his suppression motion on appeal: there could have been no reversible error for the appellate court to correct because both the constitutional and statutory arguments for suppression were meritless and the issue of Petitioner's drug use was not even in dispute.

Because Petitioner has not established any error in the decision of the PCR court, the State asks this Court to deny the petition for a writ of certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.